Australian Council for Educational Research ACEReSearch

Monitoring Trends in Educational Growth (MTEG)

Assessment and Reporting

6-2015

Class 6 girls and boys in Afghanistan 2013 : comparing outcomes of girls and boys from a learning assessment of mathematical, reading and writing literacy

Alla Routitsky ACER, Alla.Routitsky@acer.edu.au

Rachel Stanyon ACER, rachel.stanyon@acer.edu.au

Maurice Walker ACER, maurice.walker@acer.edu.au

Follow this and additional works at: http://research.acer.edu.au/mteg Part of the <u>Curriculum and Instruction Commons</u>, <u>Educational Assessment</u>, <u>Evaluation</u>, and <u>Research Commons</u>, and the <u>International and Comparative Education Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Routitsky, Alla; Stanyon, Rachel; and Walker, Maurice, "Class 6 girls and boys in Afghanistan 2013 : comparing outcomes of girls and boys from a learning assessment of mathematical, reading and writing literacy" (2015).

http://research.acer.edu.au/mteg/3

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Assessment and Reporting at ACEReSearch. It has been accepted for inclusion in Monitoring Trends in Educational Growth (MTEG) by an authorized administrator of ACEReSearch. For more information, please contact mcdowell@acer.edu.au.



MONITORING TRENDS IN EDUCATIONAL GROWTH

CLASS 6 GIRLS AND BOYS IN AFGHANISTAN 2013

COMPARING OUTCOMES OF GIRLS AND BOYS FROM A LEARNING ASSESSMENT OF MATHEMATICAL, READING AND WRITING LITERACY



Australian Council for Educational Research



MONITORING TRENDS IN EDUCATIONAL GROWTH



CLASS 6 GIRLS AND BOYS IN AFGHANISTAN 2013

COMPARING OUTCOMES OF GIRLS AND BOYS FROM A LEARNING ASSESSMENT OF MATHEMATICAL, READING AND WRITING LITERACY



ALLA ROUTITSKY RACHEL STANYON MAURICE WALKER



This report has been prepared for the Ministry of Education, Islamic Republic of Afghanistan.



First published 2015 by Australian Council for Educational Research Ltd 19 Prospect Hill Road, Camberwell, Victoria, 3124, Australia

www.acer.edu.au

Text © Australian Council for Educational Research Ltd 2015 Design and typography © ACER Creative Services 2015

This book is copyright. All rights reserved. Except under the conditions described in the Copyright Act 1968 of Australia and subsequent amendments, and any exceptions permitted under the current statutory licence scheme administered by Copyright Agency (www.copyright.com.au), no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, transmitted, broadcast or communication in any form or by any means, optical, digital, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the written permission of the publisher.

Cover design, text design and typesetting by ACER Creative Services

National Library of Australia Cataloguing-in-Publication entry

Creator:	Routitsky, Alla, author.
Title:	Class 6 girls and boys in Afghanistan 2013: comparing outcomes of girls and boys from a learning assessment of mathematical, reading and writing literacy / by Alla Routitsky, Rachel Stanyon and Maurice Walker.
ISBN:	978-1-74286-282-8 (paperback) 978-1-74286-283-5 (ebook)
Subjects:	Educational tests and measurementsAfghanistan. Mathematical abilityTestingAfghanistan. Mathematical abilitySex differencesAfghanistan. ReadingAbility testingAfghanistan. ReadingSex differencesAfghanistan. WritingAbility testingAfghanistan. WritingSex differencesAfghanistan. Sex discrimination in educationAfghanistan.
	074 0000504

Dewey Number: 371.3609581

Acknowledgements

The MTEG 2013 assessment of Class 6 students in Afghanistan was a collaboration between the Centre for Global Education Monitoring at the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER-GEM) and the Ministry of Education, Afghanistan. The key staff involved are acknowledged here.

Dr. Seddiq Weera, Strategic Advisor to the Minister of Education Prof. Ustad Naeem Baheen, Director General, General Education, Ministry of Education Dr. Amir Mansory, Professor of Education Dr. Amir Mohammad, Director of EQUIP

Learning Assessment team

Prof. Aminullah Amin (Coordinator) Mujihid Karimi (Research Officer) Khan Wali Khan (Research Officer) Nosheen Yasheen (Research Officer) Yama Yayha (Administrative/Finance Officer)

Technical Support to the Learning Assessment team

Farahnaz Farah (National Technical Advisor) Hafeez Samo (ITA) – until September 2013

Test Administrators

Mursal Ahrari Ahmad Zubair Badri Abdul Wahid Erfan Gul Hakim Noorullah Haqmal Mohammad Jawid Norzoy Emal Safir Jamshid Sherzad Mohammad Salim Sunny Mohammad Rahim Taroon Sulaiman Zadran Shafiqa Nikzad Zahid Mohammad Khalid Zaland

Australian Council for Educational Research

Ray Adams (Technical advisor) Mark Butler (Test development) Alexander Daraganov (Data analysis) Alan Egbert (Operations management) Tim Friedman (Data analysis/Questionnaire development) Musab Hayatli, cApStAn (Linguistic quality control) Nora Kovarcikova (Survey operations) Winson Lam (IT services) Petra Lietz (Questionnaire development) John Lindsey (Test development) Tom Lumley (Test development and reporting) Greg Macaskill (Data analysis) Juliette Mendelovits (Test development and reporting) Martin Murphy (Sampling) Alla Routitsky (Data analysis) Rachel Stanyon (Reporting) Stephanie Templeton (Project administration) Ross Turner (Test development and reporting) Sam Venables (IT services) Maurice Walker (ACER project director)

Thanks are also extended to the many other individuals involved, including school staff, those who contributed to the many aspects of materials development and delivery, and the students who participated.

The critical support of sponsors is also acknowledged, in particular World Bank staff and associates Samantha de Silva, Aman Farahi, Abdul Hai Sofizada and Poul Erik Rasmussen.

The authors would like to acknowledge the use of work by Tom Lumley, Juliette Mendelovits and Ross Turner, originally published in Class 6 Proficiency in Afghanistan 2013 (Lumley et al., 2015).



Contents

Acknowledgements
Overview ······1
Background ······
Terminology and conventions used in this report
Reporting of student data
Rounding ······
Statistical significance
Correlation ·····
Acronyms
Key Points for MTEG Afghanistan 2013 ······
Purpose ······
Methods
Publications ······
Database ·····
Future assessments ······
The sample6
Introduction
Overview of achievement ······
Focus on girls and boys ·······
Class 6 profisions/r girls and have 14
Class 6 proliciency: girls and boys
Mainemalical interacy
Reading literacy
Whiting interacy
Reading habits and attitudes of girls and boys in Class 6
Positive and negative reading attitudes ······27
What are girls and boys reading in Class 6? 28
Learning support for girls and boys in Class 6
Help with homework ·······31
Support attending school·······32
Socio-economic background of girls and boys in Class 6
What girls and boys in Class 6 think about their school and their teacher
Demographic characteristics of girls and boys in Class 6
At what age are girls and boys attending Class 6?
How is the Class 6 population distributed across rural and urban areas?40
Conclusions and possible policy implications 42
Appendix A: Describing proficiency on a scale44
References45



Overview

Background

In 2012, the Ministry of Education, Afghanistan, engaged the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) as a partner to support the development of a national learning assessment program in Afghanistan. To achieve this goal, the Learning Assessment Unit of the Ministry of Education and ACER collaborated to design and implement the Monitoring Trends in Educational Growth (MTEG) program in Afghanistan.

MTEG is designed as a long-term monitoring program with one focus on trends in achievement outcomes in single classes over time, and another focus on the growth of achievement in cohorts throughout the school cycle, from Class 3 through to Class 9.

The Afghan Ministry of Education's curriculum goals speak of students' learning skills such as 'reading and writing, using numbers', and of utilising those skills to support 'thinking, reasoning, study, research, diagnosis and innovation in academic, literary, cultural and technical contexts' and in the 'solving and identification [of] individual and social problems' (Afghanistan Ministry of Education, 1390 [2011], pp. 116-117). These goals are reflected in MTEG's literacy approach to the assessment of mathematics, reading and writing. The term literacy denotes the ability to apply knowledge, skills and understanding across a range of contexts, both within school and in extra-curricular settings. Rather than limiting its focus to set topics laid out in a curriculum, in MTEG the domains of mathematics, reading and writing are assessed through tasks that require authentic use of knowledge (Turner, 2014). Similarly, the Afghanistan Education Curriculum highlights the importance of being able to 'use the acquired knowledge and skills in solving daily problems' at Class 6 level (Afghanistan Ministry of Education, 1390 [2011], pp. 116-117). The literacy orientation underpins an approach that is both curricular and cross-curricular. The assumptions behind a literacy approach to assessment are explained in more detail in An Assessment Framework for Monitoring Trends in Educational Growth (ACER, in press).

Exhibit 1: Educational Goals of the Afghanistan Education Curriculum



Acquiring and strengthening the learning skills [of] listening, speaking, reading and writing, using numbers and calligraphy in national and foreign languages.

Promoting and strengthening the abilities of thinking, reasoning, study, research, diagnosis and innovation in academic, literary, cultural and technical contexts.

Gaining skills for solving and identification [of] individual and social problems.

(Afghanistan Ministry of Education, 1390 [2011], pp. 30)

As can be seen from the MTEG assessment schedule below, the first assessment of Class 6 students took place in 2013. In 2018, another assessment of Class 6 students is planned which will measure the trend in Class 6 achievement over time. In addition to measuring class achievement, as Exhibit 2 shows, growth in achievement is measured by testing the same cohort as it progresses through the classes: the cohort tested in Class 3 in 2015 will be the same cohort tested in Class 6 in 2018, and again in Class 9 in 2021. Thus, the design of the program allows for conclusions to be drawn about changes in the achievement of Class 6 students at regular intervals, as well as about changes in achievement as students progress from class to class.

It is the 2013 assessment results of boys and girls in Class 6 that are the focus of this report.

6 3 9 6 3 9 6 3 9 6 6 6 6 3 9 6 6 6 6 7 9 6 6 6 7 7 6 7

Exhibit 2: MTEG assessment schedule in Afghanistan



Terminology and conventions used in this report

Reporting of student data

The report uses 'Class 6' students as shorthand for the MTEG Afghanistan 2013 target population. The target population is defined as Class 6 students in government schools in 13 Afghan provinces taught in Dari or Pashto.

The figures in this report are estimates that apply to the Class 6 population. To obtain these estimates, the sample data is weighted to the estimated number of students in the Class 6 population.

Rounding

All statistics, including their totals and differences, are rounded for reporting purposes. Because of rounding, some figures in some tables may not add up to 100 per cent exactly.

Where a value of 0 is reported it means that the value is less than 0.05.

Statistical significance

Statistical significance shows that the differences identified are likely to be reflected in the population, rather than being the result of the random nature of the data.

The 95% confidence level is used throughout this report to compute confidence intervals and statistical significance.

Differences which are statistically significant and positive are identified by a triangle ' Δ '; the differences that are statistically significant and negative are identified by an inverted triangle ' ∇ '; and the differences that are not statistically significant are identified by a dash '-'.

Standard errors are not published here but will be available in the technical report.

Correlation

A correlation coefficient shows the strength of association between two variables. The correlation coefficient ranges from -1 to 1, with 0 meaning there is no correlation, values greater than 0 showing positive correlation, and values less than 0 showing negative correlation.

For ease of discussion, the following descriptions will be used in this report when the correlation coefficient is statistically significant:

- Correlations of 0.5 and higher are considered to be moderate to strong.
- Correlations lower than 0.5 are considered to be weak to moderate.

The same scale and descriptions are used for negative correlations (eg -0.5 or less is a moderate to strong negative correlation).

Acronyms

ACER	Australian Council for Educational
	Research

- MTEG Monitoring Trends in Educational Growth
- PIRLS Progress in International Reading Literacy Study
- PISA Project for International Student Assessment
- TIMSS Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study

Key Points for MTEG Afghanistan 2013

Purpose

MTEG is designed as a long-term monitoring program.

One focus of MTEG is on trends in achievement outcomes in single classes over time.

Another focus is on the growth of achievement in cohorts throughout the school cycle, from Class 3 through to Class 9.

Methods

In total, 110 schools and 5,979 students participated in the assessment, representing 361,172 students estimated to be in the Class 6 population across the 13 provinces.

Each participating student undertook a one-and-a-half-hour test and a background questionnaire of approximately half an hour.

The test contained tasks relating to mathematical, reading and writing literacy – about 30 minutes of test material per domain.

The student questionnaire contained questions about the student, his or her family, living conditions, and attitudes towards school, reading, and mathematics.

In addition, the principals of participating schools filled in a school questionnaire including questions about the principal, the teachers, and the school's facilities and resources.

Publications

Along with the technical report and assessment framework, a number of short topical reports for the general public are included in the series being published by ACER in 2015 in conjunction with the 2013 MTEG Afghanistan assessment.

The topics include:

- Class 6 proficiency
- Class 6 girls and boys
- School resources

The results from the 2013 Class 6 assessment in relation to gender are the main topic of this report (Class 6 girls and boys).

Database

The 2013 Class 6 data is available for research purposes at this address http://www.acer.edu.au/gem/activities/mteg/products

Future assessments

The MTEG program design includes assessments of Class 3 and Class 9 students in Afghanistan, as well as ongoing assessment of Class 6. It is envisaged that the program will expand to implementation in other countries.

The sample

Schools from 13 provinces in Afghanistan participated in the assessment. The provinces included are broadly representative of the five main regions of Afghanistan: East, West, Central, North and South. The 13 provinces are Balkh, Bamyan, Faryab, Helmand, Herat, Kabul Province, Kabul City, Kandahar, Khost, Kunduz, Nangarhar, Paktia, and Parwan.

Using scientific methods¹, schools from these provinces were randomly sampled to participate in the study. From each randomly sampled school, one randomly sampled section of Class 6 students was administered the assessment.

In total, 110 schools and 5,979 students participated in the assessment, representing 361,172 students estimated to be in the Class 6 population across the 13 provinces.

About 42% of the sample consisted of girls and 58% of boys, which closely matches the estimated gender proportion in the population in Class 6.

The number of participating students was fairly even in terms of students tested in Dari (54%) and students tested in Pashto (46%).

Exhibit 3: Provinces participating in the MTEG Class 6 Afghanistan survey in 2013



¹ More detailed descriptions of the scientific methods used will be provided in future publications.

MONITORING TRENDS IN EDUCATIONAL GROWTH



Introduction

This report presents the results of an assessment of reading, writing and mathematical literacy of Class 6 students in 13 provinces in Afghanistan in relation to the gender of students. The data were collected in late 2013.

The purpose of MTEG is to provide information to education policy makers on the quality of education outcomes in Afghanistan. In addition MTEG will inform educational practitioners by clearly demonstrating what students at Class 6 can and cannot do in an assessment situation.

One of the policy areas that MTEG aims to inform is gender equality. It is known that fewer girls attend school than boys and that the rate of illiteracy amongst the female population is higher (Central Statistics Organization, 2014, p. 70ff). In accordance with the United Nations Millennium Development Goals (United Nations, n.d.), redressing this imbalance is a priority for Afghanistan (Islamic Republic of Afghanistan, 2008; Afghanistan Ministry of Education, 2010; Afghanistan Ministry of Education, 2011). Despite data having been collected on school attendance and literacy levels in the population, little is known on the *quality* of educational outcomes. This report hopes to contribute to the discussion on gender disparity by reporting on the proficiency levels of girls and boys in the domains of mathematical, reading and writing literacy. The data gathered in the 2013 MTEG assessment of Class 6 students in Afghanistan also provides information on background characteristics that may interact with school attendance and achievement, both of which are important indicators of gender parity. These background characteristics include attitudes to school. perceived support, socio-economic status, and location.

Before turning to gender, it is important to have an overview of the achievement outcomes of the whole Class 6 population in Afghanistan – that is, girls and boys together. These results are presented in brief below; for a more detailed discussion of Class 6 achievement, see *Class 6 Proficiency in Afghanistan 2013* (Lumley et al., 2015).

Overview of achievement

The results of the assessment are reported on 'described proficiency scales'.² For each subject, proficiency can be described from early stages of learning to sophisticated skills and understanding. Each continuous scale is divided into 'bands' or 'levels' for ease of interpretation, making it possible to describe the knowledge, skills and understanding that students demonstrate at a given region of the scale for each of reading, writing and mathematical literacy.³

Based on the results of the assessment, the proportion of the Class 6 population performing at each proficiency level is identified (see Exhibits 4–6). The results show that while there are small numbers of Class 6 students operating at the higher levels of proficiency in each of the domains of reading, writing and mathematical literacy, there are substantial proportions of the population who are not able to perform simple reading, writing and mathematical tasks.

² Described proficiency scales are also referred to interchangeably as 'learning metrics' in education literature. Throughout this report, the term 'described proficiency scales' will be used.

³ For more information on describing proficiency, see Appendix A in this report, or *Class 6 Proficiency in Afghanistan 2013* (Lumley et al., 2015).

In the area of mathematical literacy, the data show that 86% of students (proficiency levels 6-11 and above in Exhibit 4) in Class 6 are likely to be able to recognise common shape names, and use spatial reasoning as part of a counting strategy or to make comparisons involving mathematical properties of objects. A small percentage of Class 6 students – those at proficiency levels 10-11 and above – can understand and use a range of mathematical tools, language, and techniques to solve problems where relationships among problem elements are central.

While the above results are encouraging, the data also show that students in proficiency levels 6 and below – more than one-third of students in Class 6 – cannot answer questions that require them to add two-digit numbers (eg 22 + 49). At the time of writing, there is little known about the performance of Class 6 students studying in countries neighbouring Afghanistan. However, there are TIMSS results from the Islamic Republic of Iran, Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan that may be used for comparative purposes. TIMSS is a major international study of mathematics and science for Class 4. Among other findings, the TIMSS study reports on Class 4 students' ability to add three-digit numbers (eg 155 + 318) – a more difficult arithmetic procedure than adding two-digit numbers. TIMSS reports that 64% of Class 4 students in Iran, 72% in Azerbaijan and 88% in Kazakhstan demonstrate the ability to add three-digit numbers (Mullis et al., 2012a, p. 90, 95). It would appear that Class 4 students in those countries are performing at a similar or higher level compared to Class 6 students in Afghanistan.



Exhibit 4: Distribution of Class 6 mathematical proficiency

In the area of reading literacy, 90% of students (proficiency levels 6-11 and above in Exhibit 5) in Class 6 are likely to be able to recognise the meaning of single sentences on familiar topics; about 10% of students are able to identify the main message in short texts on familiar topics (proficiency levels 10-11 and above); and a small percentage of Class 6 students can explain the behaviour and emotions of characters in a narrative text (proficiency level 11 and above).

Students in proficiency levels 8-11 and above – 55% of Class 6 students in Afghanistan – could answer questions that required them to retrieve directly stated information located at the beginning of a text. No data are available on neighbouring regions for reading literacy at Class 6. However, using PIRLS – a major international study of reading literacy at Class 4 – some interesting comparisons can be drawn. In PIRLS, this skill of retrieving directly stated information at the beginning of a text was demonstrated by 76% of Class 4 students in the Islamic Republic of Iran, and 82% of Class 4 students in Azerbaijan (Mullis et al., 2012b, p. 65, 68). It would appear that many Class 4 students in these countries are performing at or above the level of Class 6 students in Afghanistan.

Nevertheless, it is promising that a large majority of students are able to demonstrate fundamental reading skills and that a significant, if small, proportion of the population is performing well on relatively difficult reading tasks.



Exhibit 5: Distribution of Class 6 reading proficiency



For writing literacy, eight per cent of students are able to produce texts where ideas are elaborated to some extent, and are generally relevant to the task (proficiency level 10 and above in Exhibit 6). Forty-five per cent of Class 6 students are unable to demonstrate writing ability beyond producing a recognisable word to label an everyday object or correctly spelling single words prompted by a picture (proficiency levels 6 and below). There are currently no large-scale international assessments of writing literacy. This means that, at the time of publication, the MTEG Class 6 results for writing cannot be compared with those of other countries.



Exhibit 6: Distribution of Class 6 writing proficiency



Focus on girls and boys

This report focuses on gender differences in achievement as well as in background characteristics.

The Class 6 assessment results point to similarities and differences in achievement between girls and boys.

There is no difference between girls' and boys' achievement in mathematical literacy: both are at the mean score of 200. This finding is consistent with assessment results from many countries in international studies. TIMSS, for example, reports that in half of the participating countries there are no significant gender differences in mathematics outcomes at Class 4 (Mullis et al, 2012a, p. 68; see also OECD 2013b, p. 71).

As can be seen in Exhibit 7, there are differences between girls' and boys' achievement in reading and writing literacy. These differences are statistically significant and in line with other studies.⁴

As will be shown in the following pages, there are also considerable differences in the distributions of boys and girls across the proficiency levels in reading and writing where there is a disproportionately higher number of boys in the lower proficiency levels.

Girls and boys also differ in some of the background characteristics. After presenting the distributions in achievement of girls and boys in mathematical, reading and writing literacy, this report will examine gender differences in reading habits and attitudes, learning support, socio-economic background, attitudes to school and teachers, age, and location.





Note: achievement levels should not be compared between domains, as the scale for each domain is constructed independently and on different parameters

For Afghanistan's Class 6 students in 2013, the difference in reading achievement between girls and boys was 25% of the standard deviation of the MTEG reading scale. In PIRLS, the difference between Class 4 boys' and girls' reading achievement is 14% of the standard deviation of the PIRLS scale in Azerbaijan, 20% in the Islamic Republic of Iran, and 27–54% in Arabic-speaking countries.

In writing literacy, the difference was 40% of the standard deviation, a difference which is not only statistically significant but important. Currently, comparisons with other regions cannot be made for writing.



Class 6 proficiency: girls and boys

In the area of mathematical literacy, girls and boys achieved the same score overall. About the same proportions of boys and girls performed at each proficiency level.

In reading and writing literacy, girls performed significantly better than boys. In both areas, a higher proportion of boys are in the lower proficiency levels, and a higher proportion of girls are in the higher proficiency levels.

The differences in the proportions of girls and boys in each proficiency level in each domain are discussed in the next three sections. After presenting the distributions, each domain is explained through two displays: a draft proficiency scale, showing the overall percentage of Class 6 students who performed at each of several levels associated with MTEG scores; and an illustrated scale, showing how example tasks from the MTEG Afghanistan instruments for Class 6 relate to the MTEG scores and proficiency levels.

These proficiency scales are based on the results of the assessment of mathematical literacy, reading literacy and writing literacy administered to Class 6 students in MTEG Afghanistan. The scales will be further refined and extended as MTEG collects data from Class 3 and Class 9 students. Before presenting the distributions of girls and boys at each of the proficiency levels in the three domains, it is helpful to have an overview of girls' and boys' mean achievement:

- In mathematics, boys' and girls' achievement is around the overall mean of 200.
- In reading and writing, on average girls perform slightly above the overall mean of 200 and boys on average perform slightly below (see Exhibit 8) with the difference between boys and girls being statistically significant.

Exhibit 8: Mean achievement for Class 6 girls and boys⁵

	Girls	Boys	Difference Girls-Boys	Statistical significance
Mean Mathematics Achievement	200	200	0	-
Mean Reading Achievement	203	198	5	Δ
Mean Writing Achievement	205	197	8	Δ
Mean Writing Achievement	205	197	8	Δ

5 Note: achievement levels should not be compared between domains, as the scale for each domain is constructed independently and on different parameters.

Mathematical literacy

As expected from the overall results presented in Exhibit 8, the differences in proportions of girls and boys at each mathematics proficiency level were not statistically significant (see Exhibit 9).

The following two pages explain the skills, knowledge and understanding displayed by students at each of the mathematical literacy proficiency levels:

- Exhibit 10 is a description of the proficiency scale for mathematics. Examples are tasks from the Class 6 assessment. The average proportion of students at each proficiency level is given, along with a breakdown for girls and boys.
- Exhibit 11 presents the scale with illustrated tasks.



Exhibit 9: Gender differences in mathematics proficiency levels (Class 6)

Exhibit 10: Proficiency descriptions for mathematics (Class 6)

Level and examples	Proficiency description Students at this level typically have highly developed reasoning and strategic thinking skills; they can flexibly use different mathematical representations, and can apply a range of mathematical skills and knowledge to solve problems involving multiple steps set in a variety of contexts.				
Level 11 and above (259 and above) eg Teapot (full credit) Class 6 students at this level: 0% Girls 0%; Boys: 0%					
Level 10 (242 to less than 259) eg Buying walnuts Class 6 students at this level: 1% Girls: 1%; Boys: 1%	Students at this level can typically understand and use a range of mathematical tools, language, and techniques to solve problems where relationships among problem elements are central; and they can apply the required reasoning steps to plan and follow straight-forward sequential processes.				
Level 9 (226 to less than 242) eg Mass of apple Class 6 students at this level: 8% Girls 8%; Boys: 8%	Students at this level can typically understand important mathematical terms and processes, and are able to carry out linked calculations that involve a number of steps. Their abstract reasoning skills are developing; they show fluency with calculations involving 1-digit and 2-digit numbers and those involving time; and they can work with data in tables and graph form.				
Level 8 (210 to less than 226) eg Three cans Class 6 students at this level: 23% Girls: 24%; Boys: 23%	Students at this level can typically interpret information presented in text form, and relate it to graphs or diagrams; they can work with basic mathematical properties of objects; they can successfully complete calculations of different kinds that involve tractable numbers; and they can interpret and use mathematical concepts expressed in relational language.				
Level 7 (194 to less than 210) eg Pomegranates, 13x6 Class 6 students at this level: 31% Girls: 31%; Boys: 31%	Students at this level can typically perform basic arithmetic operations; they can interpret text describing a familiar situation involving mathematical ideas, formulate an appropriate calculation and solve it; and they can interpret and use standard graphical representations of data and of relative quantities.				
Level 6 (178 to less than 194) eg Bales of cotton Class 6 students at this level: 23% Girls: 22%; Boys: 24%	Students at this level can typically recognise common shape names, and they can use spatial reasoning as part of a counting strategy or to make comparisons involving mathematical properties of objects.				
Level 5 and below (less than 178) eg Team Games Q1 Class 6 students at Level 5 and below: 14% Girls: 14%; Boys: 14%	Below the lowest level currently described: there were insufficient tasks at this level in the Class 6 test to create a general description.				

Exhibit 11: Graphic representation of illustrated mathematics scale





Reading literacy

In reading there tended to be higher proportions of boys in lower proficiency levels (especially 6–7) and higher proportions of girls in higher proficiency levels (9–11) (see Exhibit 12).

The differences in proportions of boys and girls at reading proficiency levels 6, 7, 9, 10 and 11 are statistically significant.

The higher percentage of girls in proficiency level 11 means that nearly twice as many girls as boys are able to explain the behaviour and emotions of characters, even when they are not stated directly. These students can also combine several pieces of information and deal with distracting information in texts of several hundred words on a variety of familiar topics (family, school or local community) including narratives and persuasive texts. At proficiency level 10, nearly twice as many girls as boys are able to identify the main message and identify clearly stated details in short texts on familiar topics.

The following two pages explain the skills, knowledge and understanding displayed by students at each of the reading literacy proficiency levels:

- Exhibit 13 is a description of the proficiency scale for reading. The average proportion of students at each level is given, along with a breakdown for girls and boys.⁶
- Exhibit 14 presents the scale with illustrated tasks.



Exhibit 12: Gender differences in reading proficiency levels (Class 6)

6 Examples are tasks from the Class 6 assessment. Due to the limited number of publicly available tasks, examples cannot be given for all proficiency levels.

Exhibit 13: Proficiency descriptions for reading

Level and examples	Proficiency description Students at this level are typically able to explain the behaviour and emotions of characters, even when they are not stated directly; and, they can combine several pieces of information and deal with distracting information in texts of several hundred words on a variety of familiar topics (family, school or local community) including narratives and persuasive texts.			
Level 11 and above (234 and above) eg The Hole Q2 (full credit) Class 6 students at this level: 3% Girls: 5%; Boys: 2%				
Level 10 (222 to less than 234) eg Country Fact File Q4 Class 6 students at this level: 9% Girls: 12%; Boys: 7%	Students at this level are typically able to identify the main message and clearly stated details, even when they are not in a prominent position, in short texts on familiar topics. These texts include narratives and letters, and information presented in tables.			
Level 9 (210 to less than 222) eg Country Fact File Q3 & Q8 Class 6 students at this level: 19% Girls: 22%; Boys: 17%	Students at this level are typically able to identify one or two pieces of explicitly stated information from different parts of texts on familiar topics, where there is strong support in the text such as illustrations, or where the information is in a prominent position, such as at the beginning of the text.			
Level 8 (198 to less than 210) eg The Hole Q6 Class 6 students at this level: 24% Girls: 24%; Boys: 24%	Students at this level are typically able to identify directly stated information in short texts on familiar topics such as family or school, or a longer text with strong support given in the task (such as a key word from the text); and they can recognise information about concrete objects or well-known things such as animals.			
Level 7 (186 to less than 198) Class 6 students at this level: 22% Girls: 17%; Boys: 25%	Students at this level are typically able to recognise simple details, explicitly stated, in a very short text such as a note to a relative; and they can identify the message of a narrative, supported by repetition in the text.			
Level 6 (174 to less than 186) Class 6 students at this level: 13% Girls: 10%; Boys: 15%	Students at this level are typically able to recognise the meaning of single sentences on familiar topics; and they can match one of four given words to a simple illustration of a familiar object, where the other three words may have similarities to the target word in meaning or graphic appearance.			
Level 5 (162 to less than 174) eg Wheel Class 6 students at this level: 6% Girls: 6%; Boys: 6%	Students at this level are typically able to match one of four given words to a simple illustration of a single highly familiar object, where the task is simple, direct and repetitive, and the other three words are unlike the target word in both meaning and graphic appearance.			
Level 4 and below (less than 162) eg Gloves	Below the lowest level currently described: there were insufficient items at this level in the Class 6 test to create a general description.			

Class 6 students at Level 4 and below: 4% Girls: 4%; Boys: 4%

Exhibit 14: Graphic representation of illustrated reading scale



Writing literacy

In writing (see Exhibit 15) the picture is similar to reading, only the differences between the proportions of girls and boys in the lowest proficiency levels are more pronounced.

The differences in proportions of boys and girls at all writing proficiency levels except level 7 are statistically significant.



Exhibit 15: Gender differences in writing proficiency levels

After having spent at least five years at school⁷, there are estimated to be still about 24% of girls and 36% of boys at or below the lowest described writing proficiency level (level 5). Students who are at or below proficiency level 5 are unable to consistently demonstrate the ability to produce a recognisable word to label an everyday object, or correctly spell single words prompted by a picture. While both proportions may seem high, the percentage of boys is one-and-a-half times higher than the percentage of girls.

On the other hand, there are 15% of girls and 9% of boys in proficiency level 9. This means that a much higher percentage of girls than boys is able to include important elements that are characteristic of the kind of writing required by the task (for example, use persuasion in a message to a family member, and write an introduction and ending in a narrative). These students are also able to provide minor elaboration in their texts, form simple sentences correctly and use vocabulary adequately to convey important elements of a short and simple message. When writing about family or school, they can generate and spell words correctly beyond basic vocabulary. They can also use some punctuation correctly in a story and control handwriting to produce good letter formation.

Also, while there are 14% of girls there are only 4% of boys in the highest proficiency level (level 10). This means that more than three times more girls

than boys are able to produce texts where ideas are elaborated to some extent, and generally relevant to the task (for example, telling a short story or presenting an opinion). Students at proficiency level 10 can also write texts in which sentences are varied in structure and correctly formed and use vocabulary that is adequate to convey some level of detail (for example, describing a scene).

The following two pages explain the skills, knowledge and understanding displayed by students at each of the writing literacy proficiency levels:

- Exhibit 16 is a description of the proficiency scale for writing. The average proportion of students at each level is given, along with a breakdown for girls and boys.⁸
- Each writing task has its own set of marking criteria, eg ideas, vocabulary, punctuation, and each criterion has been divided into scores that describe the quality that the writing exhibits. The criteria and score at each proficiency level is listed for each task in Exhibit 16. For a more detailed description on how writing tasks were marked, see *Class 6 Proficiency in Afghanistan 2013* (Lumley et al., 2015).
- Exhibit 17 presents the scale with illustrated tasks.

Highest proficiency level (Level 10) **4**% **4**%

⁷ The possibility that some students may not have completed five years of schooling is acknowledged.

⁸ Examples are tasks from the Class 6 assessment. Due to the limited number of publicly available tasks, examples cannot be given for all proficiency levels.

Exhibit 16: Proficiency descriptions for writing

Level and examples

Level 10 and above (224 and above)

eg Brothers' Race:

- Development of narrative (4)
- Punctuation (2)
- eg Celebration:
- Ideas (relevance) (2)

Class 6 students at this level: 8% Girls: 14%; Boys: 4%

Level 9 (216 to less than 224)

eg Celebration:

- Vocabulary (2)
- eg Brothers' Race:
- Punctuation (1)
- Narrative sequence (2)
- Development of narrative (3)
- Story elements (2)

Class 6 students at this level: 11% Girls: 15%; Boys: 9%

Level 8 (208 to less than 216)

eg Celebration:

- Handwriting (2, 1)
- Ideas (relevance) (1)
- Vocabulary (1)
- eg Brothers' Race:
- Development of narrative (2, 1)
- Narrative sequence (1)
- Story elements (1)
- eg Scenes we see Bird over mountains:
- Syntax (2)

Class 6 students at this level: 17% Girls: 20%; Boys: 15%

Level 7 (200 to less than 208)

eg Scenes we see - Bird over mountains:

- Syntax (1)
- Vocabulary (1)

Class 6 students at this level: 19% Girls: 17%; Boys:19%

Level 6 (192 to less than 200)

Class 6 students at this level: 14% Girls: 10%; Boys: 16%

Level 5 and below (less than 192)

eg Foot:

• Vocabulary (1)

Class 6 students at Level 5 and below: 31% Girls: 24%; Boys: 36%

Proficiency description

Students at this level are typically able to produce texts where ideas are elaborated to some extent, and generally relevant to the task (for example, telling a short story or presenting an opinion); they can write texts in which sentences are varied in structure and correctly formed; and they can use vocabulary that is adequate to convey some level of detail (for example, describing a scene).

Students at this level are typically able to include important elements that are characteristic of the kind of writing required (for example, use persuasion in a message to a family member; write an introduction and ending in a narrative); they can provide minor elaboration in their texts; they can form simple sentences correctly and use vocabulary adequately to convey important elements of a short and simple message; they can generate and spell words correctly beyond basic vocabulary in writing about family or school; they can use some punctuation correctly in a story; and they can control handwriting to produce good letter formation.

Students at this level are typically able to provide some simple ideas relevant to a task (for example, describe some elements in a picture or tell part of a story); they can form one or two simple sentences correctly using a basic pattern; they can use basic vocabulary to describe a scene or convey a simple message; they can spell basic words in a letter or when giving an opinion; and they can write legibly with most letters well formed.

Students at this level are typically able to begin to include important elements of writing (for example, an introduction to a story, or part of a process when writing a set of instructions); they can produce up to two very basic sentences correctly; they can use simple and relevant nouns, verbs and adjectives; and they can spell the names of common objects correctly.

Students at this level are typically able to produce a recognisable word to label an everyday object; and they can correctly spell single words prompted by a picture.

Below the lowest level currently described: there were insufficient items at this level in the Class 6 test to create a general description.

Writing skills that were measured in four of the MTEG writing tasks are used to illustrate this scale. The four tasks are shown above the scale. Skills relating to a single task may appear at different levels along the scale.

Exhibit 17: Graphic representation of illustrated writing scale



Reading habits and attitudes of girls and boys in Class 6

Girls and boys indicated similar attitudes towards reading. The results show that students who expressed a more negative attitude to reading demonstrated lower levels of achievement.

Unsurprisingly, the MTEG study found that the majority of children in Class 6 in Afghanistan read the Holy Quran. Class 6 students who read a greater variety of materials demonstrated higher proficiency in mathematical, reading and writing literacy. While girls indicated reading more fiction books than boys, overall the amount of variety in reading materials read by girls and boys is similar.

Information was obtained from the student questionnaire to construct three indices which numerically summarise students' reading habits and attitudes (see Exhibit 18). The rest of this section discusses gender differences in relation to reading habits and attitudes of the Class 6 students, and association between the indices and achievement.

Index	Questions used from the student questionnaire
Reading materials	8 items in which students indicated which materials they read, eg the 'Holy Quran', and 'Newspapers'.
Positive attitudes towards reading	6 items in which students indicated how much they agree with positive statements about reading, eg 'Reading is one of my favourite hobbies', and 'I enjoy going to a bookstore or a library.'
Negative attitudes towards reading	5 items in which students indicated how much they agree with negative statements about reading, eg 'I read only if I have to', and 'For me, reading is a waste of time'.

Exhibit 18: Questionnaire indices related to students' reading habits and attitudes (Class 6)

Positive and negative reading attitudes

The questionnaire contained a series of statements relating to reading attitudes. Students were asked to indicate their level of agreement with a number of positive and negative statements about reading. The responses were analysed in two groups: responses to positive statements and responses to negative statements (see Exhibit 18). If, for example, a student is said to have a more negative attitude towards reading, this means that they indicated stronger agreement with negative statements (eg indicating that they 'strongly agree' with statements like 'For me, reading is a waste of time'). Conversely, the more disagreement expressed about negative attitudes towards reading (eg indicating that they 'strongly disagree' with these statements), the less negative the student's attitude to reading, according to the index.

Similarly, if a student is said to have a more positive attitude towards reading, this means they indicated stronger agreement with positive statements (eg indicating that they 'strongly agree' with statements like 'Reading is one of my favourite hobbies').

There was no gender difference in positive attitudes to reading and also no relationship found between a student's positive attitude to reading and their achievement in reading, mathematics or writing.

In contrast, students expressing more negative attitudes about reading demonstrated lower proficiency, on average. In statistical terms, the index of negative attitudes towards reading has weak correlation with achievement in all three domains.⁹

Interestingly, as with positive attitudes to reading, the negative attitudes towards reading index did not show statistically significant gender differences.



9 Mathematical literacy: r = -0.24; Reading literacy: r = -0.24; Writing literacy: r = -0.19

What are girls and boys reading in Class 6?

Students were asked what materials they read (see Exhibit 19). Students' responses to the items were analysed in two ways: as individual reading materials, and together as an index. Exhibit 19 shows the percentage of girls and boys who indicated that they read each kind of reading material.

The most-read material is the Holy Quran, which is read by more than 50% of girls and boys, followed by textbooks, which are read by around 40% of girls and boys. Online materials are read by slightly more than 10% of Class 6 girls and boys. Although Exhibit 19 shows slightly higher percentages of girls reading all materials, only the differences relating to fiction books are statistically significant (see Exhibit 20).

An index of variety of reading was constructed by summing all affirmative responses for each student. This index shows weak to moderate positive correlation with achievement in all three domains.¹⁰ The positive correlations show that the greater the variety of materials students indicated they read, the more likely they are to do better in each of the three domains. Given the only gender difference for an individual item was for fiction books (see Exhibit 20), it is not surprising that the index of variety of reading materials does not show statistically significant gender differences.

The overall findings in differences in achievement and reading habits are in agreement with findings from large scale international studies: girls generally do better in reading and writing and they also usually read more fiction books (OECD, 2010a: p. 75). Research suggests that *diversified* reading of a variety of texts – especially books of any kind – characterises the most proficient readers, whether boys or girls (Kirsch et al., 2002, pp. 116-117).



10 Mathematical literacy: r = 0.18; Reading literacy: r = 0.24; Writing literacy: r = 0.31



Exhibit 19: Per cent of girls and boys reading each text type (Class 6)

	% Girls	% Boys	Difference Girls-Boys	Statistical significance
Holy Quran	57	54	3.8	-
Textbooks for school	44	38	5.1	-
Fiction books	30	22	8.3	Δ
Magazines	27	25	1.7	-
Newspapers	26	21	4.5	-
Comic books	21	18	2.3	-
Non-fiction books	20	14	5.7	-
Online materials	15	13	1.4	-

Exhibit 20: Difference in per cent of girls and boys reading each text type (Class 6)

Learning support for girls and boys in Class 6

Overall, boys report receiving slightly more help in attending school than girls. Although girls and boys indicated receiving similar levels of support from their parents, boys indicated receiving more support in attending school from other family members, friends and the community than girls did. Interestingly, students who indicated that they have more support in attending school demonstrated lower achievement in mathematical, reading and writing literacy.

The student questionnaire contained two questions about the support that Class 6 students receive in attending school and doing homework.

Index	Questions used from the student questionnaire
Homework help	1 item that asks students how often they receive help with their homework from someone other than their teacher.
Support in attending school	6 items that ask students to indicate how much support they received in attending school from different people, eg 'My mother', and 'My friends'.

Help with homework

Students were asked to indicate how often they receive help with homework from someone other than their teacher. For the question about homework help, the response options were 'I do not get any homework', 'Never', 'Sometimes', and 'Most of the time' coded from 1 to 4 respectively.

Exhibit 22 shows that about 35% of boys and 38% of girls receive help with their homework most of the time, with another 17% of boys and 20% of girls receiving help sometimes.





How often help is received

Note: 38% of girls and 35% of boys did not respond to this question

When the average responses for girls and boys were calculated, girls receive help with their homework slightly more often than boys (see Exhibit 23), although it should be noted that the differences in the proportions of girls and boys choosing each response option are not statistically significant.

Exhibit 23: Homework help - mean difference between girls and boys (Class 6)

	Girls	Boys	Difference Girls–Boys	Statistical significance
Average homework help	3.37	3.23	0.14	Δ

Support attending school

The second question related to learning support asked how supportive a range of people were of the student attending school. Students had the following options to choose from: 'Not supportive', 'Partly supportive', 'Moderately supportive', 'Very supportive', and 'Extremely supportive', which were coded from 1 to 5 respectively.

When comparing girls' and boys' average perception of support they receive from different people, we can see (Exhibit 24) that on average, all these people are between partially supportive and moderately supportive (between codes 2-3) of girls and boys.

Both boys and girls perceive receiving slightly less support from their teachers than they do from other people.

The differences between girls' and boys' perception of their parents' and teachers' support are not statistically significant (see Exhibit 24).

When rating the levels of support given by family members other than parents, friends and the community, boys indicated receiving more help than girls at statistically significant levels.

When these questions were analysed as a group the data showed that, on average, boys indicated receiving higher levels of support in attending school than girls.

The data also showed that students who indicated they had more support demonstrated lower achievement in all three domains: there is weak to moderate negative correlation with achievement in all three domains.¹¹ A possible explanation could be that weaker students receive more support precisely because they are demonstrating lower achievement and require more encouragement, attention or help.

Boys indicated receiving higher levels of support in attending school than girls



¹¹ Mathematical literacy: r = -0.32; Reading literacy: r = -0.33; Writing literacy: r = -0.25

Support from:	Girls	Boys	Difference Girls-Boys	Statistical significance
Mother	2.5	2.8	-0.22	-
Father	2.5	2.8	-0.28	-
Other family members	2.4	2.7	-0.29	\bigtriangledown
Friends	2.4	2.8	-0.43	\bigtriangledown
Community	2.4	2.8	-0.40	\bigtriangledown
Teachers	2.2	2.5	-0.29	-

Exhibit 24: Mean difference between girls' and boys' perception of support they receive in attending school (Class 6)

Socio-economic background of girls and boys in Class 6

Socio-economic variables showed only some small differences between girls and boys. Nevertheless, it should be noted that when looking at home building quality and home possessions only, girls attending Class 6 in Afghanistan appear to come from slightly 'better-off' homes than boys, on average.

On average, both girls and boys indicated eating between two and three meals per day.

The average time it takes to get to school is between 30 minutes and 1 hour for both girls and boys.

The student questionnaire contains a number of questions related to the socio-economic background of students. The responses to questions about Home Possessions, Home Quality, and Educational Possessions were scaled into indices.¹² The questions about parent education were re-coded into highest year of general education of either parent and the questions about number of meals per day and school travel time were treated as stand-alone variables (see Exhibit 25).¹³

When analyses were performed to investigate the relationship between achievement and the various socio-economic factors, it was found that students from homes with a higher socio-economic status perform better. The strengths of the relationships are within the range of other studies.¹⁴

The mean differences between boys and girls are statistically significant for two indices: Home Possessions and Home Quality. In both cases, girls and their families were slightly better off than boys (see Exhibit 26). This difference might be explained if girls from the poorest families are less likely to attend school than boys from the poorest families.

For all other indices and variables related to student socio-economic background, gender differences are not statistically significant.

One can see from Exhibit 26 that, on average, both boys and girls have between two and three meals a day. For time travelled to school, the value of 1.7 indicates a travel time of between 30 minutes and one hour on average.

Overall the differences in socio-economic conditions between girls and boys are either small or not statistically significant.

¹² Home and Educational Possessions indices were scaled under Rasch (Rasch, 1960/1980); Home Quality was scaled under a partial credit model (Masters, 1982). To achieve comparable results, all indices were standardised around the mean and standard deviation of Highest Parental Education (mean=9.7; standard deviation=5.6).

¹³ More detailed analysis of socio-economic background variables will be provided in future publications.

¹⁴ In MTEG Afghanistan 2013, socio-economic factors are associated with 9% of variance in mathematics performance, 12% in reading performance and 12% in writing performance. In comparison, in the PISA study,

the index of economic, social and cultural status for each country explains between 2.6% and 24.6% of performance variance in mathematics (OECD, 2013a, p. 36) and between 1.8% and 27.4% of performance variance in reading (OECD, 2010b, p. 55). The average across all PISA countries is 13.2% in reading and 14.1% in mathematics, which for reading is not vastly different from the results for Class 6 in MTEG Afghanistan.

Index	Questions used from the student questionnaire
Home Possessions	16 items about things students have in their home, eg 'Daily newspaper', 'Car', and 'Piped water', scaled.
Home Quality	Four items about students' houses, eg 'In your home, what is the main source of lighting by which you can read?' and 'What is the roof of your home mostly made of?', scaled.
Educational Possessions	13 items about reading, mathematics, and other educational materials that students have, eg 'How many books are in your home that are not school books, newspapers or magazines?' and a question that asks about items possessed, eg 'Calculator' and 'Pencil', scaled.
Highest Parental Education	Two items about the level of general education that their mother and father (or guardians) have completed, choosing from a list of options from 'Grade 6 or lower' to 'University degree'. The highest level of general education between both the mother and father, was used for analysis.
Number of Meals per Day	One item that asks students how many meals they have on a normal school day: '1 meal', '2 meals' or '3 meals or more', coded as 1, 2, 3 respectively.
Time Travelled to School	One item in which students indicate how long it takes them to get to school each day: 'Less than 30 minutes', '30 minutes to 1 hour', '1 to 2 hours' or 'More than 2 hours', coded as 0, 1, 2, 3 respectively.

Exhibit 25: Questionnaire indices and variables related to socio-economic background of Class 6 students

Exhibit 26: Differences in socio-economic background of boys and girls in Class 6¹⁵

Index/variable	Mean Girls	Mean Boys	Difference Girls-Boys	Statistical significance
Home Possessions	10.28	9.19	1.09	\bigtriangleup
Home Quality	10.25	9.22	1.03	Δ
Educational Possessions	10.14	9.30	0.84	-
Highest Parental Education	9.84	9.53	0.31	-
Number of meals per day	2.69	2.69	0.00	-
Time travelled to school	1.71	1.72	-0.02	-

¹⁵ Values explained further in the forthcoming Technical Report.

What girls and boys in Class 6 think about their school and their teacher

Neither girls nor boys expressed positive attitudes towards their school experience.

Students' attitudes towards their teachers' classroom organisation were also negative, although girls' attitudes were slightly less negative.

Towards the end of the questionnaire, students were asked to indicate their level of agreement to a series of questions relating to their experience at school and their teacher's organisation of the classroom.

All of the statements to which the students were asked to respond were worded positively. On average, students responded that they disagreed or strongly disagreed with these positively worded statements about school.

When the questions about school were analysed together, students' attitudes to school did not correlate with achievement, and there were no differences in boys' and girls' attitudes.

In contrast, differences were found between boys' and girls' perceptions of their teacher's

organisation of the classroom when the three items about classroom organisation were analysed together.

On average, students' responses fell between strongly disagreeing and disagreeing with statements about their teacher's organisation, but female students indicated less disagreement: their perception of their teacher's organisation of the classroom was less negative.¹⁶

Nevertheless, these perceptions did not correlate with achievement. In other words, students with a negative perception of their teacher's classroom organisation did not tend to perform any better or worse on the assessment than students who expressed more positive perceptions.

¹⁶ More detailed analysis will be provided in future publications.

Exhibit 27:	Questionnaire	indices related	d to students	s' attitudes	(Class	6)
-------------	---------------	-----------------	---------------	--------------	--------	----

Index	Questions used
Students' attitudes towards school	7 items in which students indicate how much they agree with statements about school, eg 'I make friends easily at school', and 'I have learnt things at school that are useful'.
Students' perceptions of teacher's organisation of the classroom	3 items in which students indicate how much they agree with statements about their mathematics teacher: 'My teacher gets students to listen to him or her', 'My teacher keeps the class orderly', and 'My teacher starts lessons on time'.



Demographic characteristics of girls and boys in Class 6

The ages and school locations of Class 6 students in Afghanistan were analysed in relation to girls' and boys' achievement.

The range of ages in Class 6 is quite wide, from at least 11 to 15 years old and older. The data show that, on average, it was the 12-year-olds in Class 6 who performed best in mathematical, reading and writing literacy. Interestingly, boys are underrepresented in the 12-year-old age group.

For mathematical literacy, there is no statistically significant difference in student achievement based on location of the school (urban or non-urban).

There is also no statistically significant difference in achievement between girls from a non-urban area and boys from a non-urban area.

Overall, students from an urban area demonstrated higher levels of reading and writing literacy than those from a non-urban area. Girls from an urban area outperformed boys from an urban area in reading and writing, and these girls from urban areas also outperformed girls from a non-urban area in writing.

At what age are girls and boys attending Class 6?

In the questionnaire, students were asked how old they were.

It was found that among those who provided an answer to this question, boys are, on average, 12.8 years of age and girls are 12.5 years of age, which makes girls approximately 3 months younger, on average.¹⁷

The analysis of the data shows that there are significant differences in achievement between 12-year-olds and 15-year-olds, with 12-year-olds demonstrating higher levels of proficiency in all three domains. It was also found that boys are under-represented in the 12-year-old category (see Exhibit 28), which is performing best in all three domains. More investigation may be required to ascertain the causes of this: whether it is due to class repetition, late starting age, other factors or a combination of factors.



Exhibit 28: Per cent of boys and girls in each of the Class 6 age categories

17 Please note that 14% of girls and 17% of boys did not report their age. More details on age-related differences are planned for a forthcoming publication.

How is the Class 6 population distributed across rural and urban areas?

In the school questionnaire, the principals were asked about the location of their school. They were given a choice of 'Remote', 'Rural', 'In or near a small town', and 'In or near a large town or city'. According to their answers, the percentage of girls and boys who are in Class 6 in these areas was estimated.

The results show that girls are under-represented in rural areas (see Exhibit 29).¹⁸ This may be connected to findings on support attending school: the data show that boys perceive more support in attending school from family members other than parents, friends, and the community than girls do (see page 32). A possible implication is that more support may be required for girls in rural areas to attend school.

Analyses were also performed to compare the achievement of students in urban ('in or near a

large town or city') and non-urban areas. This was done by considering the results for 'remote', 'rural' and 'in or near a small town' as one category: 'non-urban'.

Results from large-scale studies have shown that in many countries, students who go to schools situated in an urban area outperform their peers at schools in a non-urban area (see, for example, Mullis et al, 2012a; Mullis et al, 2012b). In Afghanistan, this was found to be the case for reading and writing, but not for mathematics.

As well as examining overall differences in achievement by location, analyses were performed to include gender differences in the comparison of results by location. The results for writing are of particular interest.

% Girls 40 _ % Boys 35 _____ Percent of girls and boys 30 ____ 25 _ 20 _ 15 _ 10 _ 5_ 0 Remote Rural In or near a In or near a small town large town or city Location

Exhibit 29: Per cent of girls and boys in different locations (Class 6)

18 Please note that data on school location is missing for approximately one-fifth of girls and approximately one-quarter of boys. More details on location-related differences are planned for a forthcoming publication.



The first area considered was the difference in achievement between girls and boys living in each of the two location categories.

- In reading and writing literacy, girls outperform boys in urban areas ('in or near a large town or city'). For reading, this difference equates to nearly one MTEG proficiency level, while for writing, girls living in an urban area perform nearly two proficiency levels higher than boys living in an urban area.
- When the achievement of girls living in a nonurban area was compared to achievement of boys living in a non-urban area, the results were similar in all domains.

Another point of comparison was to consider the achievement of girls in each of the locations and boys in each of the locations.

- The achievement of boys who live in an urban area and boys who live in a non-urban area is similar in all three domains.
- For girls, the levels of mathematical and reading literacy in urban and non-urban areas are similar. For writing, on the other hand, girls who live in an urban area outperform girls who live in a non-urban area: the difference is 11 MTEG scale points, about one-and-a-half MTEG writing proficiency levels.

It appears that girls living in an urban area are outperforming other sub-groups, particularly in writing literacy.



ᇛ

100

0

00

00|00

0

Π

0

00

00

٥

00

00

۵

П

Exhibit 30: Reading achievement by gender and

Exhibit 31: Writing achievement by gender and location (Class 6)



0 0

00

00

П

۵

00

00

ПП

00

۵

0

Conclusions and possible policy implications

This report has presented data from the Class 6 MTEG Afghanistan assessment in 2013 as it relates to girls and boys. The main findings include:

- Boys and girls demonstrated similar levels of achievement in mathematical literacy.
- Overall, girls outperformed boys in both reading and writing literacy.
- Boys from non-urban areas and girls from nonurban areas have similar levels of achievement.
- In urban areas, girls outperformed boys in reading.
- Girls schooled in an urban area outperformed girls schooled in non-urban areas, and boys no matter where they are schooled, in writing.
- In general, students who indicated more negative attitudes to reading demonstrated lower achievement in all three domains.

The data show that the mathematical literacy of girls and boys in Class 6 is at the same level: most students demonstrated basic proficiencies, although a substantial minority of students did not demonstrate these basic proficiencies. It is not surprising that in Class 6 there is no gender difference in mathematics achievement – research from international studies shows that gender differences vary between countries and over time (see, for example, Mullis et al, 2012a, p. 74-82; OECD 2013b, p. 71).

In the areas of reading and writing literacy, girls outperformed boys. The fact that girls in Class 6 demonstrated higher levels of proficiency than boys in reading and writing is not surprising given the body of research into gender differences and consistent results of this research for reading and writing. In PISA, for example, 'girls outperform boys in reading in every country and economy' (OECD, 2013b, p. 199), and similar results have been found for Class 4 students in PIRLS: 'in each successive assessment, PIRLS has consistently found that fourth grade girls have much higher reading achievement than boys in most countries, and the 2011 results continue this pattern' (Mullis et al, 2012b, p. 51).

Even though girls outperformed boys in the Class 6 survey in writing, the percentages of both boys (36%) and girls (24%) at and below the lowest proficiency level are high. On the other hand, much higher proportions of girls than boys performed in the two highest writing proficiency levels. The two highest levels, proficiency levels 9 and 10, comprise more than twice as many girls as boys: 29% of girls but only 13% of boys.

There were some differences in the support received by girls and boys in attending school and doing homework. Girls indicated receiving slightly more support in doing homework while boys indicated receiving more support in attending school. The higher levels of support in attending school come from friends, the community and family members other than their parents.

Collectively, the indices and variables related to socio-economic background of the students are associated with around 10 per cent of differences in their performance (or put another way, there is about 0.3 correlation between socio-economic background and performance). This means that even if all other factors for all students (like age, and location) were found to have been exactly the same, we would still have found about 10% of the differences in performance we observed, just because of differences in socio-economic status. Most of the socio-economic indices and variables do not exhibit gender differences. However, the Home Possessions and Home Quality indices favour girls, which might mean that girls from the poorest families are less likely to attend Class 6 than boys from similar socioeconomic backgrounds.

Generally, both boys and girls responded negatively when asked about their teachers' classroom organisation skills. However, girls were less negative about their teachers than boys. Boys and girls both seemed to have quite negative attitudes towards the school environment as a whole. Future research could investigate how school could be a more positive experience for students in Afghanistan.

Although positive attitudes to reading do not correlate with achievement in any of the domains, students who indicated more negative attitudes towards reading demonstrated lower achievement in all three domains. There is no gender difference in reading attitudes.

A higher percentage of girls (30% compared to 22% of boys) reported that they read fiction books. The index summarising the variety of reading materials showed positive association with achievement in all three domains. On the negative side, the results show that less than half of girls and boys reported that they read textbooks. Making reading materials, including textbooks, available to all students and better integrating them into the learning process would be an advantage.

Although girls performed better than boys at reading and writing in urban areas, the results showed no difference between girls and boys in non-urban areas. However, overall performance in reading and writing is still low. This suggests that more assistance is required in reading and especially writing, but it should be provided to all children, regardless of their gender.

Availability of a variety of reading texts and writing tasks that are of high interest to boys and girls is likely to promote their engagement in both of these literacies, and improve their attitudes towards reading and writing. It is hoped that this will lead to higher performance. Recent research shows that reading attitudes are associated with 25% of improvement in reading achievement in Chile, an emerging educational system (Valenzuela, Gómez and Sotomayor, 2015). It is recommended that both girls and boys be supported, encouraged and that their interest in reading be fostered right from the beginning of schooling, but with an emphasis on giving more assistance to older students before they come to Class 6 as well as in Class 6.

In general, measures that promote reading and make reading materials, including textbooks, more readily available across the country have strong policy implications. To this end, engaging students more in reading and making reading materials more accessible through establishing school libraries, especially in rural areas, would be an advantage.

Appendix A: Describing proficiency on a scale

The results of the MTEG assessment of mathematical literacy, reading literacy and writing literacy are analysed to locate students' proficiency in each domain on an empirically derived developmental scale.¹⁹ The scale for each domain assumes there is a single underlying trait - mathematical or reading or writing proficiency which can be thought of as an attribute possessed to differing degrees by different students. Similarly, each task (or question) in the assessment can be thought of as demanding the activation of a certain degree of this trait. The underlying trait can be represented as a line or scale, showing at the same time the increasing presence of the attribute and the increasing extent to which tasks call for the attribute.

A described proficiency scale details the different levels of proficiency shown by learners in the domain. The proficiency scale describes what learners know, understand and can do at different stages of their development. A key concept underpinning proficiency scales is that learning involves building and developing knowledge, skills and understanding in that area of learning.

The proficiency scale is depicted as a line with numerical gradations that quantify how much of the measured variable (for example, reading literacy) is present. Locations along this metric can be represented by numerical scores or with descriptions (that is, in terms of student skills, understanding and competencies).

In associating students with items on this metric, we make probabilistic statements; for example, that we expect students at a certain location on the scale to have a particular probability of correctly answering items at or near that same location. Similarly, we expect that students would have a higher probability of correctly answering questions below that location (relatively easy items), and a lower probability of correctly answering questions higher on the scale (relatively difficult items). In other words, the more difficult an item is, the more ability a student needs to answer it; and the less proficient a student is in the relevant domain, the more likely it is that he or she is only able to answer less difficult questions – that is, questions demanding less of the relevant attribute.

The scales cover a wide range of proficiencies, from early stages of learning to more sophisticated skills and understanding. Given their continuous and wide-ranging nature, and their literacy orientation – that is, their orientation towards authentic use of knowledge – these scales can be powerful tools for tracking student progress towards the attainment of a set of skills that enable them to participate fully in life beyond the classroom. In addition, since the proficiency levels in the scales are not directly tied to curriculum goals, they can be applied across different settings: different students, different classes, different schools, and even different classes.

While the scales are continuous, for ease of interpretation they are divided into bands: Level 1, Level 2, and so on. The descriptions of each of the proficiency levels are derived from the skills, knowledge and understanding demanded in each task, and the levels are defined by students' performance in the assessment.

¹⁹ For a description of the processes involved in constructing the scales, please see *Class 6 Proficiency in Afghanistan* (Lumley et al., 2015).

References

- ACER. (in press). An assessment framework for monitoring trends in educational growth. Melbourne: Australian Council for Educational Research.
- Afghanistan Ministry of Education. (1390 [2011]). Afghanistan Education Curriculum.
- Afghanistan Ministry of Education. (2010). *National Education Strategic Plan for Afghanistan 1389-1393/2010-2014 - draft (NESP II).* Kabul: Ministry of Education.
- Afghanistan Ministry of Education. (2011). Education Interim Plan 2011-13, Version 5. Retrieved March 20, 2015, from http://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/upload/ Afghanistan/Afghanistan_NEIP.pdf
- Central Statistics Organization. (2014). National risk and vulnerability assessment 2011-12. Afghanistan living condition survey. Kabul: CSO.
- Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. (2008). Afghanistan National Development Strategy 1387-1391/2008-2013 (ANDS). Retrieved March 20, 2015, from http:// www.embassyofafghanistan.org/sites/default/files/ publications/Afghanistan_National_Development_ Strategy_eng.pdf
- Kirsch, I., deJong, J., Lafontaine, D., McQueen, J., Mendelovits, J., & Monseur, C. (2002). *Reading* for change: Performance and engagement across countries: Results from PISA 2000. Paris: OECD.
- Lumley, T., Mendelovits, J., Stanyon, R., Turner, R., & Walker, M. (2015). *Class 6 proficiency in Afghanistan 2013*. Melbourne: Australian Council for Educational Research.
- Masters, G. N. (1982). A Rasch model for partial credit scoring. *Psychometrika*, 47(2), 149-174.
- Mullis, I. V. S., Martin, M.O., Foy, P., & Arora, A. (2012a). *TIMSS 2011 international results in mathematics*. Chestnut Hill, MA: Boston College.
- Mullis, I. V. S., Martin, M.O., Foy, P., & Drucker, K.T. (2012b). *PIRLS 2011 international results in reading*. Chestnut Hill, MA: Boston College.
- OECD. (2010a). *PISA 2009 results: Learning to learn: Student engagement, strategies and practices* (*Volume III*). Paris: OECD Publishing.
- OECD. (2010b). PISA 2009 results: Overcoming social background: Equity in learning opportunities and outcomes (Volume II). Paris: OECD Publishing.
- OECD. (2013a). PISA 2012 results: Excellence through equity: Giving every student the chance to succeed (Volume II). Paris: OECD Publishing.

- OECD. (2013b). *PISA 2012 results: What students know* and can do: Student performance in mathematics, reading and science (Volume I). Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Rasch, G. (1960/1980). Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests. (Copenhagen, Danish Institute for Educational Research), expanded edition (1980) with foreword and afterword by B.D. Wright. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Turner, Ross. (2014). The 'literacy' idea. Retrieved March 20, 2015 from http://www.acer.edu.au/files/The_literacy_idea_2014.pdf
- United Nations. (n.d). We can end poverty: Millennium Development Goals and Beyond 2015. Retrieved March 2015, from http://www.un.org/ millenniumgoals/
- Valenzuela, J. P., Gómez, G., Sotomayor, C. (2015). The role of reading engagement in improving national achievement: An analysis of Chile's 2000-2009 PISA results. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 40, 28-39.



